S207172

SUPREME COURT
FILED

9

No. _____

DEC -7 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

HARTFORD CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

**SWIFT DISTRIBUTION, INC. DBA ULTIMATE SUPPORT
SYSTEMS; MICHAEL BELITZ; ROBIN SLATON,**

Defendants and Appellants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District,
Division Three, Case No. B234234, from
Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC442537
The Honorable Debre K. Weintraub

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONERS
Swift Distribution, Inc. DBA Ultimate Support
Systems; Michael Belitz; and Robin Slaton

LITTLE REID & KARZAI LLP

I. QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Is *Travelers Prop. Cas. Co. of Am. v. Charlotte Russe Holding, Inc.*, 207 Cal. App. 4th 969 (2012) good law, after being denied petition for review by this Supreme Court, in light of the decision of the Appellate Court herein declaring that the *Charlotte Russe* decision was wrongly decided?
2. Is there potentially covered “disparagement” where the claimant asserts, as a basis for claimant’s unfair competition claim, that the insured was “falsely claiming that [it was] the originator, producer, manufacturer, processor, wholesaler, or importer, or that [the insured] own[s] or control[s] the intellectual property, factory, or other source of supply of” claimant’s products and trademark? [JA Vol. 1, Ex. 11, 113-14]
3. Where the insurer acknowledges that there is an implied reference to the claimant’s product in the insured’s

statements, is the Court then barred from determining there has not been any reference to the claimant's product, implied or express?

II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Appellate Court has invited review by this Court by expressly stating the *Charlotte Russe* holding, a case of the same jurisdiction and district, is not good law, even after this Court denied the petition to review the *Charlotte Russe* holding. This case will decide how California interprets allegations of disparagement for every California policyholder and the controlling law of two directly adverse Appellate Opinions. Without this Court's granting a petition for review, the applicable law regarding disparagement pertaining to insurance policies cannot be determined.¹

The Court of Appeal further invited review by this Court by finding that there was not an express or implied reference to the claimant's disparaged product, even after both parties expressly acknowledged the implied reference present.

The Court of Appeal's decision, in stating that disparagement cannot be found unless there is an express reference to a claimant's product, is contrary to California coverage law, which holds that for duty to defend

¹ "*Charlotte Russe* held that the allegations in the complaint could be reasonably interpreted to allege that the insured retailer disparaged the People's Liberation brand, and that the advertising injury provision of an insurance policy provided coverage of, and the insurer had a duty to defend the insured against, this claim of disparagement. (*Id.* at p. 981.) We disagree. As discussed below, we believe such a conclusion has no objectively reasonable basis." Appellate Op. at 10, October 29, 2012.

purposes, the complaint and/or extrinsic evidence need not make specific references to the disparaged party, and that disparagement by reasonable implication is enough to trigger an insurer's duty to defend.

This Court should grant review to settle the important questions of law regarding whether product disparagement can be found through reasonable implication, and whether the *Charlotte Russe* holding is good law.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Underlying Actions

Ultimate was sued in a lawsuit styled as *Dahl v. Swift Distribution, Inc., dba Ultimate Support Systems, Inc.*, U.S.D.C., C.D. of Cal., No. CV10-0551-SJO(RZx) (the "*Dahl* Action"). [Joint Appendix on Appeal ("JA") Vol. 1, Ex. 11, 102-65] The Dahl Complaint alleges that Ultimate published false material, including in advertising, which unfavorably compared Ultimate's product to Dahl's product by reasonable implication that injured Dahl's reputation and caused damage. Pertinently, Dahl alleges:

57. On information and belief, Defendants have engaged in the advertising herein with the intent to mislead the public as to origin and ownership of rights in Dahl's Mark. In doing so, Defendants intended . . . to mislead the public into believing that its products are the same as Dahl's or otherwise authorized by or related to Dahl.

58. Defendants' advertising was, and continues to be, **untrue and misleading** and likely to deceive the public in that it appears therefrom that Defendants are the originator, designer, or are otherwise authorized to manufacture and distribute . . . the "Ulti-Cart" carts, which name and cart design appear nearly identical to the Cart . . . Mark, . . .

...

72. On information and belief, Dahl has suffered injury in fact and has lost sales and money as a result of the violations alleged above in this Complaint... (bold provided)

[JA Vol. 1, Ex. 11, 111-13]

Dahl then filed an Application for Temporary Restraining Order and Motion for Preliminary Injunction on February 12, 2010, which specifically alleges:

Dahl could not believe that Slaton and Belitz had violated their respective NDA's and were now marketing a knock-off of his "MULTI-CART" brand utility carts. *Id.* To make matters even worse, Defendants adopted a name for their cart which not only creates a likelihood of confusion with his registered "MULTI-CART" trademark, but is nearly identical to it, since Defendant's merely dropped the "M" from the name.

For example, Dahl and his distributors market through websites and the exact same trade shows, such as the NAMM show at which Dahl became aware of Defendants' infringing cart. (Dahl Decl. ¶¶ 20, 21). Defendants also maintain a website and, as noted, attend music industry trade shows, where they announced the forthcoming introduction of their infringing cart – the same channels through which Dahl markets, and notably, within the same main industry which Dahl has focused on for years. (*See Id.*; Exhibit I). . . .

. . .

The goodwill Dahl has created under the "MULTI-CART" mark is of enormous value to him and his business and he has suffered and will continue to suffer irreparable harm should the infringement be allowed to continue. The Defendants' use of a near identical mark is clearly to the detriment of Dahl's trade reputation and goodwill. If not enjoined by the court, Defendants' uses of the confusingly similar and nearly identical "ULTI-CART" mark will cause confusion for the general public and pecuniary loss of sales and loss of customers for Dahl. Moreover, Defendants' "introductory" display of its infringing cart at the NAMM trade show, the largest and most popular music industry trade show in the

nation, threatens to deprive Dahl of a significant source of potential customers.

And, Dahl's own patent-protected utility cart design and the infringing "ULTICART" mark will now be used to Dahl's detriment, since he will have no control over the nature and quality of the utility carts supplied by Defendants. Any fault or objection with said services or goods will adversely affect future sales and customers of Dahl and will tarnish his name and reputation.

Likewise, Dahl's reputation will suffer severe negative ramifications if Defendants' infringing and unfair behavior is allowed to continue.

Furthermore, Dahl has invested a substantial amount of time, effort, and money in the mark, and the relevant industry and consuming public has come to recognize the "MULTI-CART" mark as being associated with Dahl. Dahl's authentic "MULTI-CART" brand utility carts have established an outstanding reputation, as acknowledged by Defendants (see Exhibit F) for excellence and high quality, as well as the revolutionary and patented design Dahl invented. Defendants' promotion and use of the "ULTI-CART" mark and name is certain to cause confusion, mistake, and/or deception to the public as to the source of origin of Defendants' goods and services and what to expect from Defendants." Together, this will result in a loss of business and support for Dahl and undoubtedly have a negative impact on Dahl's reputation and image.

[JA Vol. 1, Ex. 11, 177-84]

On February 18, 2010, Dahl filed its Reply to Opposition of Defendants to Appl. for TRO, reiterating the arguments made above in its original memorandum and further stating:

The Belitz declaration offered in evidence admits and proves the urgency of the instant motion. Defendant Belitz, in his Declaration attached to the opposition (¶¶15-19), clearly states his intent to expand into Plaintiff's markets with similar pricing and with millions of dollars worth of Chinese carts planned to be dumped in the United States with lower pricing.

This is practically a guaranty that Plaintiff will suffer price erosion damages, lost market share of a patented product, and have no control whatsoever of carts that bear confusingly similar trademarks that will be confused with Plaintiff. Moreover, Belitz stresses the critical nature of mere 10-days to the launch of products into the market. *Id.* at ¶19.

[JA Vol. 1, Ex. 11, 198]

On August 24, 2010, Dahl responded to Ultimate's Second Set of Interrogatories in the *Dahl* Action, revealing the following:

INTERROGATORY NO. 11. State the basis for YOUR claim that Defendants are liable for false advertising.

ANSWER:

...

On information and belief, Defendants are advertising and offering for sale Defendants' Infringing products which infringe the Patents-in-Suit and Dahl's Mark. Defendants' advertising efforts include, but are not limited to, various websites, such as <http://www.ultimatesupport.com/as> as well as various product catalogs and flyers distributed at industry trade shows, including the 2010 NAMM Show. Defendants' advertisements are directed toward and available to the Dahl's consumers. On information and belief, Defendants have engaged in the advertising herein with the intent to mislead the public as to origin and ownership of rights in the carts that are sold under labels that constitute false designations of origin. In doing so, Defendants intended to mislead the public into believing that its products are the same as Dahl's, affiliated with the MULTI-CART brand products or otherwise authorized by or related to Dahl. Defendants' advertising was, and continues to be, untrue and misleading and likely to deceive the public in that it appears therefrom that Defendants are the originator, designer, or are otherwise authorized to manufacture and distribute Defendants' Infringing Products (Le., the "Ulti-Cart" carts, which name and cart design appear nearly identical to the "Multi-Cart" brand carts under Dahl's Mark), and further, that Defendants own the intellectual property underlying

Defendants' Infringing Products and/or have the manufacturing rights to the patent and trademark-S protected Cart, all of which are untrue. . . . Defendants' actions constitute false designation of origin and unfair competition in commerce, in violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125 (a) and California statutory law regarding unfair competition.

INTERROGATORY NO. 12. State the basis for Your claim that Defendants are liable for unfair competition under federal law, state law, or common law.

ANSWER:

...

In addition to all facts from the live complaint, which are hereby incorporated by reference into this answer, Dahl owns the incontestable '291 registration and common law rights to the MULTI-CART® mark. Dahl asserts that Defendants' use of a confusingly similar mark, ULTI-CART, creates a likelihood of confusion within the relevant consuming public, and that Defendants' products are associated with or approved by Dahl, which is not true. The likelihood of confusion created by Defendants' acts amounts to infringement under federal and state law, whether under the statutory or common law. Dahl asserts that Defendants' adopted the confusingly similar ULTI-CART name with knowledge of Dahl's mark and his similar product lines. Dahl asserts that Defendants adopted the confusingly similar ULTI-CART name to unfairly trade on the goodwill, notoriety associated with his mark and products by consumers. Dahl incorporates by reference into this answer his response to Interrogatory No.1, and all facts offered in application for a preliminary injunction. Dahl will identify other information as discovery progresses.

INTERROGATORY NO. 13. Identify all instances of which You are aware in which any person or entity has expressed confusion or uncertainty or inquired regarding the origin, source, sponsorship, affiliation, or approval of Ultimate's products offered under its UC-80 ULTI-CART

mark, or the origin, source, sponsorship, affiliation, or approval of Your products offered under the mark '291 registration, including, but not limited to, any and all misdirected communications. For each such instance, identify the person who was allegedly confused, the nature of the alleged confusion, uncertainty, or inquiry, the manner in which You learned of the alleged confusion, uncertainty, or inquiry, and all persons having factual knowledge thereof.

ANSWER:

....

Ken Heath was confused (see bates nos. Dahl 01176-1179) about the affiliation with the UIti-Cart product. Glenn Libby was another person who sells carts who was confused about the source of the UIti-Cart product. On information and belief, other consumers at the trade show were confused. *Id.* at pp. 4-7.

[JA Vol. 1, Ex. 11, 252-55]

All of these documents and information, along with Dahl's document productions, were forwarded to Hartford, establishing its clear defense obligations.

Hartford filed a declaratory relief action in the Los Angeles County Superior Court regarding Hartford's duties to defend and indemnify Ultimate in the *Dahl* Action, under Hartford's insurance policy no. 57 SBQ RH3077. The trial court found that Hartford was entitled to a declaration that it did not owe a defense or indemnity for the *Dahl* Action. The trial court entered judgment on May 13, 2011 in Hartford's favor and Ultimate timely appealed on July 5, 2011. The Appellate Court's ruling is styled as *Hartford Cas. Ins. Co. v. Swift Distribution, Inc.*, No. B234234, 2012 WL 5306248, at *1 (Cal. App. Ct. Oct. 29, 2012) (the "*Hartford* Action").

B. The Court of Appeal Decision

The Court of Appeal agreed that Hartford owed no defense duty to Ultimate; however, the Court of Appeal went beyond merely affirming the trial court's holding. The Court of Appeal alleges that Ultimate cannot recover, because it did not publish a disparaging statement. Appellate Op. at 9, October 29, 2012. The Court stated:

Even if the use of "Ulti-Cart" could reasonably imply a reference to "Multi-Cart," however, Ultimate's advertisement contained no disparagement of "Multi-Cart." As stated, disparagement involves "an injurious falsehood directed at the organization or products, goods, or services of another . . ." (Atlantic Mutual, *supra*, 100 Cal.App.4th at p. 1035.) The injurious falsehood or disparagement may consist of matter derogatory to the plaintiff's title to his property, its quality, or to his business in general. (*Ibid.*) The advertisements for the "Ulti-Cart" did not include any of these derogations. Ultimate's advertisements referred only to its own product, the Ulti-Cart, and did not refer to or disparage Dahl's Multi-Cart.

Id.

The Court of Appeal also reasoned that Dahl needed to specifically allege Ultimate's publications disparaged Dahl's product in order to trigger Hartford's defense obligations to Ultimate, stating:

Because Dahl did not allege that Ultimate's publication disparaged Dahl's organization, products, goods, or services, Dahl was precluded from recovery on a disparagement theory. (*Nichols v. Great American Ins. Companies* (1985) 169 Cal.App.3d 766, 774.) Thus Dahl alleged no claim for injurious false statement or disparagement that was potentially within the scope of the Hartford policy coverage for advertising injury.

Id.

Moreover, the Court held that Ultimate was precluded from relying on *Charlotte Russe*, because the *Charlotte Russe* Court purportedly applied illogical reasoning in finding that a retailer selling premium clothing at discounted prices had disparaged the premium clothing's brand or reputation. *Id.* at 10.

The Court of Appeal stated its disagreement with the logic in *Charlotte Russe* for a finding of disparagement, as follows:

In spite of the requirements that there be a publication (*Shanahan v. State Farm General Ins. Co.* (2011) 193 Cal.App.4th 780, 789) that specifically refers to the plaintiff (*Total Call Internat., Inc. v. Peerless Ins. Co.*, *supra*, 181 Cal.App.4th at p. 170), *Charlotte Russe* held that this reduced pricing was enough to constitute disparagement, which triggered the duty to defend. We fail to see how a reduction in price—even a steep reduction in price—constitutes disparagement.

...

[T]here was neither a publication nor a specific reference to the manufacturer's products. For these reasons, we reject the analysis of *Charlotte Russe*.

Id. at 10-11.

IV. DISCUSSION

A. The *Hartford* Action's Ruling Directly Conflicts with the Appellate Opinion in *Charlotte Russe*: Is *Charlotte Russe* Good Law?

The Appellate Court in the *Hartford* Action held that *Travelers Prop. Cas. Co. of Am. v. Charlotte Russe Holding, Inc.*, 207 Cal. App. 4th 969 (2012) was not good law and that the *Charlotte Russe* Appellate Court used a clearly erroneous standard in its finding of coverage for disparagement. *Id.* at 10-11. The California Supreme Court denied the

Petition for Review and Request for Depublication of the *Charlotte Russe* holding, on September 26, 2012. California Rules of Court Rule 8.500(b)(1) states that this Supreme Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision “when necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law.” The present case satisfies both grounds for review.

The Supreme Court’s denial of the Petition for Review and Depublication of the *Charlotte Russe* holding implies that *Charlotte Russe* is valid law in California; however, the Appellate Court’s ruling in the *Hartford* Action attempts to reject clear precedent and diminish the implication of the *Charlotte Russe* decision. Appellate Op. at 10-11, October 29, 2012. Thus, there is now no uniformity of California law. Furthermore, it is of the utmost importance that California insurers and insureds alike have a clear understanding of whether coverage for disparagement requires publication that expressly references another’s products or goods, or whether publication that implicitly references another’s products or goods is sufficient to trigger an insured’s defense duty.

B. Ultimate Published Injurious Falsehoods that *Implicitly* Reference Dahl’s Product

All parties agree that the Hartford policy provides coverage for disparagement; however, the dispute centers on whether Dahl made factual allegations that could be construed as alleging disparagement. Disparagement is defined as an “injurious falsehood directed at the organization or products, goods, or services of another...” *Atlantic Mutual Ins. Co. v. J. Lamb, Inc.*, 100 Cal. App. 4th 1017, 1035 (2002). Tortious

product disparagement involves publication to third parties of a false statement that injures the plaintiff by derogating the quality of goods or services. *Total Call Int'l, Inc. v. Peerless Ins. Co.*, 42 Cal. 3d 1033, 1046 (1986). Thus, to trigger Hartford's defense obligations there must be both a publication of an injurious falsehood and a reference to Dahl's goods, whether express or implied. Both are present.

1. Ultimate's publication of injurious falsehoods

Dahl alleges that Ultimate published material via its advertising on websites, catalogs, and flyers at trade shows, about Dahl's products or goods, stating in its Complaint:

55. Defendants are advertising and offering for sale Defendants' Infringing Products which infringe the Patents-in-Suit and Dahl's Mark. Defendants' advertising efforts include, but are not limited to, various websites, such as <http://www.ultimatesupport.com/>, as well as various catalogs and flyers distributed at industry trade shows, including the 2010 NAMM Show.

[JA Vol. 1, Ex. 11, 111]

Dahl's also alleges Ultimate's publications are injurious, in stating that:

57. On information and belief, Defendants have engaged in the advertising herein with the intent to mislead the public as to origin and ownership of rights in Dahl's Mark. In doing so, Defendants intended . . . to mislead the public into believing that its products are the same as Dahl's or otherwise authorized by or related to Dahl.

58. Defendants' advertising was, and continues to be, **untrue and misleading** and likely to deceive the public in that it appears therefrom that Defendants are the originator, designer, or are otherwise authorized to manufacture and distribute . . . the "Ulti-Cart" carts, which name and cart

design appear nearly identical to the Cart . . . Mark, . . . (bold provided)

Id.

71. In doing the acts herein alleged, Defendants have violated Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17500 and 17505 by falsely claiming that Defendants are the originator, producer, manufacturer, processor, wholesaler, or importer, or that Defendants own or control the intellectual property, factory, or other source of supply of the Cart and Dahl's Mark.

Id. at 113.

COUNT VIII

(Common Law Unfair Competition)

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