TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Atlantic Mut. Ins. Co. v. J. Lamb, Inc. (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 1017 [123 Cal.Rptr.2d 256]
Blatty v. New York Times Co. (1986) 42 Cal.3d 1033 [232 Cal.Rptr. 542, 728 P.2d 1177]
Hartford Cas. Ins. Co. v. Swift Distrib., Inc. (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 915 [148 Cal.Rptr.3d 679]
Homedics, Inc. v. Valley Forge Ins. Co. (9th Cir. 2003) 315 F.3d 1135
Nichols v. Great Am. Ins. Cos. (1985) 169 Cal.App.3d 766 [215 Cal.Rptr. 416]
Total Call Internat. v. Peerless Ins. Co. (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 161 [104 Cal.Rptr.3d 319]
Travelers Prop. Cas. Co. of Am. v. Charlotte Russe (2012) 207 Cal.App.4th 969 [144 Cal.Rptr.3d 12]
US Ecology, Inc. v. State of California (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 887 [28 Cal.Rptr.3d 894]5
Rules
California Rule of Court 8.500(b)

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This action addresses a liability insurer's duty to defend under the "disparagement" clause of its general liability policy. Contrary to petitioners' assertion, this Court's review is unnecessary to ensure uniformity of decision under California Rule of Court 8.500(b)(1) because existing appellate decisions are reconcilable. In particular, the panels in this case and in *Travelers Property Casualty Co. of America v. Charlotte Russe (Charlotte Russe)* (2012) 207 Cal.App.4th 969 [144 Cal.Rptr.3d 12] endorsed and applied the very same precedent to reach different conclusions based on the unique facts of each case. That different appellate panels reached different results on different facts does not reflect a conflict in the authorities. As a result, the petition for review should be denied.

* * *

In its published decision in this case, the Court of Appeal applied existing California law to conclude that Hartford Casualty Insurance Company ("Hartford") had no duty to defend an underlying patent and trademark infringement action (the "Underlying Action") filed against its insureds, Swift Distribution, Inc. d/b/a Ultimate Support Systems and two of its officers (collectively, the "Ultimate Appellants").

In so holding, the Court of Appeal relied on a line of California cases dating from at least 1985, which hold that a duty to defend exists under a general liability policy's "disparagement" enumerated offense

where the insured is sued over a false and derogatory statement that refers to the aggrieved claimant, either directly or by reasonable implication. (Blatty v. New York Times Co. (Blatty) (1986) 42 Cal.3d 1033, 1046 [232 Cal.Rptr. 542, 728 P.2d 1177]; Total Call Internat. v. Peerless Ins. Co. (Total Call) (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 161, 170-71 [104 Cal.Rptr.3d 319]; Atlantic Mut. Ins. Co. v. J. Lamb, Inc. (Atlantic Mutual) (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 1017, 1035 [123 Cal.Rptr.2d 256]; Nichols v. Great Am. Ins. Cos. (Nichols) (1985) 169 Cal.App.3d 766, 773 [215 Cal.Rptr. 416].) Construing the new fact pattern in the Underlying Action based on these established cases, the appellate court found the Underlying Action alleged no "disparagement" because it alleged no false and derogatory statement about the claimant or anyone else: the insureds' advertisements referenced only their own product, not the claimant's. The appellate court distinguished Charlotte Russe, in which a different division applied Atlantic Mutual, Nichols, and other California cases to find that price discounting may constitute covered "disparagement," on the ground there was no allegation of price discounting in this action, but only allegations of product imitation. Although the Court of Appeal in this case took issue with Charlotte Russe's analysis of the facts before it, the Court of Appeal applied well-established California law to the new facts alleged in the Underlying Action. The Court of Appeal did not differ with the court in Charlotte Russe about governing California law, but, applying the same

legal precedents, determined that no "disparagement" was alleged in *this* case. Accordingly, this case does not undermine uniformity of law among the appellate courts.

Fundamentally, the Ultimate Appellants urge this Court to accept review of this case because they dislike the Court of Appeal's ruling. However, disliking a result is not a basis for California Supreme Court review under Rule of Court 8.500(b)(1).

Even more implausibly, the Ultimate Appellants ask this Court to accept review of this action for the purpose of affirming that *Charlotte Russe* is good law. But this Court already declined to review *Charlotte Russe* when that case was before it; this Court certainly should not retroactively issue an advisory opinion on the validity of *Charlotte Russe* at the request of a stranger in a different action. Because *Charlotte Russe* and the decision in this case can coexist without this Court's intervention, the differing results in the two cases provide no excuse to revisit *Charlotte Russe*.

In short, review is unnecessary to ensure uniformity in the appellate court decisions or to settle an important question of law as permitted by Rule of Court 8.500(b)(1). Rather, because the Court of Appeal simply applied existing case law to the new fact pattern presented by this case, the Ultimate Appellants provide no basis for this Court to review the appellate court's decision.

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

In the Underlying Action, claimant Gary-Michael Dahl ("Dahl") sought damages from the Ultimate Appellants on the grounds they (1) impermissibly manufactured, marketed, sold, and profited from the "Ulti-Cart," which allegedly infringed Dahl's patented and trademarked "Multi-Cart"; (2) engaged in unfair competition and misleading advertising; and (3) breached two non-disclosure agreements. (*Hartford Cas. Ins. Co. v. Swift Distrib., Inc. (Swift)* (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 915, 922 [148 Cal.Rptr.3d 679].) Dahl attached marketing materials for the Ultimate Appellants' "Ulti-Cart" to his complaint in the Underlying Action, but, as noted by the Court of Appeal, the advertisements do not mention Dahl, his "Multi-Cart," or any products other than the Ultimate Appellants' own "Ulti-Cart." (*Id.* at p. 923.)

Under its applicable insurance policy, Hartford provided coverage for (among other things) suits alleging enumerated "personal and advertising injury" offenses, including "[o]ral, written or electronic publication of material that slanders or libels a person or organization or disparages a person's or organization's goods, products or services." (*Ibid.*) This "disparagement" offense is the only policy provision under which the Ultimate Appellants seek coverage.

III. <u>LEGAL DISCUSSION</u>

A. The Ultimate Appellants Provide No Basis for this Court's Review

The Ultimate Appellants claim they are asking this Court to accept review of this matter to ensure uniformity of decision among California appellate courts and to settle important questions of law. (Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1).) But because the decision on appeal is consistent with – and explicitly applies – existing California case law, as discussed in section III.B. below, there is no basis for review.

In reality, the Ultimate Appellants want this Court to apply the outof-state cases cited in their petition for review, to reverse the Court of
Appeal's ruling in Hartford's favor, and to provide an advisory opinion
embracing the holding in *Charlotte Russe* – a decision this Court already
declined to review. The appellate court correctly determined that the outof-state cases are distinguishable and, in any event, are not binding on
California courts. (*Swift, supra,* 210 Cal.App.4th at pp. 926-27 [citing *US Ecology, Inc. v. State of California* (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 887, 905 [28
Cal.Rptr.3d 894]].) As for *Charlotte Russe*, as discussed further below, the
appellate court here criticized the earlier case's application of law to fact,
but that disagreement was not the basis for the *Swift* ruling; in fact, *Charlotte Russe* and *Swift* applied the same California law regarding the
availability of coverage for "disparagement." Accordingly, because any

philosophical disagreement with *Charlotte Russe*'s outcome was irrelevant to the actual decision in this case, the Ultimate Defendants cannot use this action as a stalking horse to achieve approval of *Charlotte Russe* when this Court already deemed that case unworthy of review.

B. The Appellate Court's Decision Is Consistent with California Law

In its October 29, 2012 decision, the Court of Appeal in this case affirmed summary judgment entered in favor of Hartford, finding the complaint in the Underlying Action alleged no "disparagement" within the meaning of Hartford's policy. (Swift, supra, 210 Cal.App.4th at p. 918.) In fact, the underlying complaint alleged that the Ultimate Appellants manufactured an "Ulti-Cart," a device for moving audio-visual equipment, which was a direct copy of Dahl's own patented "Multi-Cart." As the appellate court found, the mere duplication of another's product is not a false and derogatory statement about the original product or its manufacturer, either expressly or by reasonable implication, as required under established California law. (Id. at pp. 923-24 [citing Blatty, supra, 42 Cal.3d at p. 1046, Total Call, supra, 181 Cal.App.4th at p. 170; Atlantic Mutual, supra, 100 Cal.App.4th at p. 1035; Nichols, supra, 169 Cal.App.3d at p. 773.)

In *Total Call*, for instance, the insured was alleged to have falsely advertised its own products to the detriment of the claimant. (181

Cal.App.4th at pp. 170-71.) The court found no allegation of "disparagement," because the insured's advertisements made no false or derogatory statement about the claimant, either explicitly or by implication. (*Ibid.*) By contrast, *Atlantic Mutual* found "disparagement" coverage triggered where Continental, a competitor of the insured, alleged that "[the insured] had communicated with a number of Continental's customers and falsely stated that Continental was infringing a patent owned by [the insured]" (100 Cal.App.4th at p. 1024.) That is, the complaint in *Atlantic Mutual* was based on a *specific negative comment* about the claimant Continental (that Continental engaged in patent infringement), which was intended to dissuade customers from dealing with Continental.

Here, unlike *Atlantic Mutual*, the underlying complaint nowhere made any specific negative comment about Dahl or his "Multi-Cart," either implicitly or explicitly. Indeed, it neither mentioned nor alluded to Dahl or his cart – or to any other competitor, for that matter – in any fashion whatsoever. If anything, the Ultimate Appellants implicitly *endorsed* the "Multi-Cart" by copying its design and selling an identical product. (*Homedics, Inc. v. Valley Forge Ins. Co.* (9th Cir. 2003) 315 F.3d 1135, 1141-42 [noting that copying a patented product is not disparagement, but "the highest form of flattery"].) As a result, the appellate court correctly found no allegation of "disparagement" here.

The Ultimate Appellants attempt to suggest this case is about the scope of "implicit disparagement," but it is not. There is no dispute that "implicit disparagement" can exist under California law: indeed, the court in *Total Call* acknowledged that a "specific [false and derogatory] reference" to the claimant or the claimant's products may "expressly mention[]" the claimant, or may "refer[] to him by reasonable implication." (*Total Call, supra,* 181 Cal.App.4th at p. 170.) But there is a difference between a "reasonable implication" and a conclusion drawn solely from thin air. "Implicit disparagement" exists where a disparaging statement was made that *implicitly* referred to the underlying plaintiff. (*Ibid.* [quoting *Blatty, supra,* 42 Cal.3d at p. 1046].)

For example, in *Total Call*, an advertisement that mentioned only the insured did not refer to the claimant, even by "reasonable implication," because a consumer reviewing it would need independently to seek out information about the unnamed claimant. (*Total Call, supra,* 181 Cal.App.4th at p. 171.) Similarly, the court in *Blatty* found that a list of book sales "could not reasonably be viewed as specifically referring to [the claimant] or his novel by implication, as nothing in the list distinguished him and his novel from the large number of other omitted authors and novels." (*Blatty, supra,* 42 Cal.3d at p. 1046.)

The court in *Nichols* similarly explained that an "implicit" disparagement cannot exist where there is no disparagement at all: that is,

where the most crucial element of a disparagement claim (a defamatory statement) is absent, it "cannot be supplied by reference to reports in which the defamatory innuendo appears only inferentially." (*Nichols, supra*, 169 Cal.App.3d at p. 773.)

Accordingly, California case law is clear in recognizing that disparagement of the claimant may be either express or implied, but in either case there must be a disparagement in the first instance. In this case, the appellate court simply found that Dahl's complaint contained no disparaging statement at all: it just accused the Ultimate Appellants of copying Dahl's product and making money off the purloined design. With no specific reference to Dahl or his "Multi-Cart," either "by express mention or reference by reasonable implication," there was no disparagement. (*Swift, supra,* 210 Cal.App.4th at p. 923.)

In sum, under existing California law – most notably *Total Call* and *Atlantic Mutual* – the fundamental question is whether an insured has been sued for making a false and derogatory statement about the claimant, expressly or impliedly. As in cases like *Total Call*, there is no "disparagement" coverage where the insured said nothing disparaging about *anyone*.

According to the appellate court's analysis, this action is more like *Total Call*, because Dahl nowhere accused the Ultimate Appellants of making any false and derogatory statement (explicit or implied) about him

or his "Multi-Cart." Indeed, so far as the underlying complaint revealed, the Ultimate Appellants disparaged no one at all: they only *copied* the "Multi-Cart.". The appellate court deviated from no existing case law to arrive at its decision, but merely applied existing law (notably, *Total Call* and *Atlantic Mutual*, but also *Blatty*, *Nichols*, and other California cases) to new facts to find Dahl alleged no "disparagement," either of himself or anyone else. Inasmuch as the appellate court's decision did not rest on its disagreement with *Charlotte Russe*, but simply applied existing California decisional law to new facts, this Court need not intervene to ensure uniformity of appellate decisions.

C. Charlotte Russe Provides No Basis to Accept Review,

Because the Swift Court's Rejection of Its Holding Was

Not Essential to Its Decision Here

As the first "Question Presented" in their petition for review, the

Ultimate Appellants, somewhat curiously, ask this Court to opine on

whether Charlotte Russe "[i]s...good law." (Pet., at 1.) Although the

Swift court disagreed with Charlotte Russe's analysis of the facts of that

case, the Swift ruling did not rest on that disagreement or depart from

Charlotte Russe's statement of California law. Rather, like other California

decisions (including Total Call and Atlantic Mutual), Charlotte Russe

required a disparaging statement about the claimant's products, and simply

concluded that, under the unique facts of the underlying action, the insureds

impliedly disparaged the product at issue. As a result, *Charlotte Russe* is factually distinguishable from the decision here.

In the first place, Charlotte Russe did not abrogate Total Call's and Atlantic Mutual's requirement that covered "disparagement" involve a false and derogatory statement (i.e., a "disparaging" statement) about the claimant's products, whether explicit or implicit. In fact, Charlotte Russe cited and relied on Atlantic Mutual to find a duty to defend because, in the panel's view, the insureds' pricing strategy constituted a false and derogatory statement about the claimant's products. (Charlotte Russe, supra, 207 Cal.App.4th at p. 973.) In other words, the Swift court and the Charlotte Russe court did not disagree over the law: they disagreed over their interpretation of the underlying complaint in Charlotte Russe. That Swift disagreed with Charlotte Russe's application of established law to the facts of Charlotte Russe hardly justifies review of this decision. Rule of Court 8.500(b) lists the exclusive grounds for granting review, and they do not include policing whether one appellate panel fairly criticized another panel's characterization of the factual record before it.

In any case, *Charlotte Russe* is factually distinct from this action. There, as here, the insureds sought coverage under the enumerated CGL offense of "disparagement." (*Id.* at p. 974.) In *Charlotte Russe*, however, the insureds allegedly sold the claimant's clothing line at discounted prices, thereby allegedly devaluing the claimant's clothing line by suggesting it did

not warrant its "premium" pricing. The appellate court held that Charlotte Russe had implicitly disparaged the claimant's brand by selling its clothing at deeply-discounted prices. (*Id.* at pp. 979-80.)

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